Light Therapy for Managing Sleep, Behaviour, and Mood Disturbances Associated with Alzheimer Disease

Forbes D, Morgan D, Bangma J, Peacock S, Campbell TD, Adamson J



This is a reprint of a Cochrane , prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2004, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	1
OBJECTIVES	2
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	2
SEARCH STRATEGY FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	3
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	3
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	4
REFERENCES	4
COVER SHEET	6

Light Therapy for Managing Sleep, Behaviour, and Mood Disturbances Associated with Alzheimer Disease

Forbes D, Morgan D, Bangma J, Peacock S, Campbell TD, Adamson J

This record should be cited as:

Forbes D, Morgan D, Bangma J, Peacock S, Campbell TD, Adamson J. Light Therapy for Managing Sleep, Behaviour, and Mood Disturbances Associated with Alzheimer Disease. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (Protocol)*, Issue . Art. No.: CD003946. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003946.

This version first published online: 28 August 2002 in Issue, . Date of most recent substantive amendment: 28 August 2002

BACKGROUND

In 1996, 29 million people world-wide suffered from dementia (Vink 2002). As world populations age, and specifically as the 'baby boomers' reach old age, this number will significantly increase. Alzheimer disease represents 64% of all cases of dementia (CSHAWG 1994). Cognitive impairment is the central defining feature of Alzheimer disease (Harper 1999) and sleep disruptions, behavioural disturbances, sundowning, and depression are commonly associated with Alzheimer disease (Harper 2001; Johnson 2002; Liu 2000; Moe 1995).

The term 'sundowning' refers to exacerbation of agitation during the early evening or nocturnal hours (McGaffigan 1997). All of these reduce the quality of life of the individual with Alzheimer disease, while sleep disruptions and behavioural disturbances contribute to the burden on informal and formal caregivers. The stress that such disturbances place on informal caregivers is an important factor in the decision to institutionalize people with dementia (Ancoli-Israel 1994; Gallager-Thompson 92; Pollak 1991; van Someren 1993). In addition, there are cost implications for both unpaid caregivers and health care systems (Fast 1999; Johnson 2002)

A decreased ability to maintain a stable circadian pattern of daytime arousal and nocturnal quiescence may contribute to cognitive dysfunction, behavioural disturbances, sundowning, sleep disruptions, and depression associated with Alzheimer disease (Haffmans 2001; Mishima 1999; Satlin 1992). The rest-activity and sleep-wake cycles are controlled by the endogenous circadian rhythm generated by the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) of the hypothalamus (Harper 2001). The SCN, considered to function as a biological clock, synchronizes internal rhythms with the environmental light-dark cycles predominantly by responding directly to retinal input (van Someren 1996; van Someren 1999). Light impinging on the retina is transduced into neural activity that reaches the SCN through the retinohypothalamic and the geniculo-hypothalamic tracts. Light leads to changes in the firing rates of specialized neurons in the SCN that in turn affect circadian rhythms (Chesson 1999).

With normal ageing, there is functional deterioration of the SCN and circadian rhythms are phase-advanced leading to an altered relationship between the timing of nocturnal sleep and these rhythms (Campbell 1998; van Someren 1993). Over half of the population over 65 years of age experience sleep changes such as fragmented nocturnal sleep, multiple and prolonged awakenings in the second half of the night, and increased daytime napping (Campbell 1998). These abnormalities appear to be even more pronounced in elderly people with Alzheimer disease (Bliwise 1993) reported lower amplitude and delayed acrophase (time of peak daily activity) of the circadian rhythm in individuals with Alzheimer disease than in healthy elderly people. Other evidence of disordered circadian rhythmicity in individuals with Alzheimer disease emerges from studies of rhythms of sleep and endocrine secretion (Ancoli-Israel 1997; Prinz 1982; Touitou 1982). Neuropathological studies have noted loss of vasopressin-secreting neurons in the SCN of the hypothalamus (Liu 2000; Swaab 1985). However, Liu 2000 emphasize that the loss of vasopressin-secreting neurons in the SCN does not necessarily mean that the neurons have died; they may still be present but inactive.

Reactivation of SCN cells was shown to be possible in studies of aged rats. These studies revealed that exposure to bright light appeared to reverse age-associated disturbances of circadian sleepwake rhythm (Witting 1993) and to prevent the age-associated decrease in the number of vasopressin-secreting neurons in the SCN (Lucassen 1995). In humans, the neurons in the SCN decrease during ageing and even more so in individuals with Alzheimer

disease. As in the studies of aged rats, stimulation with light might reactivate the SCN neurons in humans.

As well as the internal regulatory loss, elderly people (especially those with Alzheimer disease) experience a reduction in sensory input because they are visually less sensitive to light, and have less exposure to bright environmental light. They also, typically, have fewer social contacts. Reduced sensory input is likely to lower the 'general level of excitement' that is thought to play an important role in the entrainment of circadian rhythms (van Someren 1993).

Several studies have examined the effectiveness of light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition of individuals with Alzheimer disease (e.g., Colenda 1997; Gasio In press2002; Graf 2001; Ito 2001; Lovell 1995; Lyketsos 1999; Mishima 1994; Mishima 1998; Satlin 1992; Thorpe 2000; van Someren 1997). The light sources were usually a light box placed approximately one meter away from the subjects at a height within their visual fields, or a light visor worn on their heads, 3 to 4 cm. from their eyes. A more acceptable source of light to the subjects was the more recent 'naturalistic' light therapy, known as dawn-dusk simulation, that mimics outdoor twilight transitions. A computer algorithm drives an electronic controller connected to a halogen lamp placed behind a diffusing membrane near the subject's bed (Gasio In press2002). The intensities of the light sources varied greatly from 210 to 10,000 lux. The subjects were exposed to the bright light for half an hour to two hours per day in the morning and/or evening, over periods of three days to eight weeks. The minimum and optimum intensities and durations of light therapy that best manage disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition associated with Alzheimer disease are unknown. While organizations such as the American Academy of Sleep Medicine have drawn up practice recommendations in a number of areas of sleep medicine, there are currently no practice recommendations with regard to people with Alzheimer disease (Chesson 1999).

There is preliminary evidence from these studies that light therapy improves nocturnal sleep (Gasio In press2002; Lyketsos 1999), providing support for the hypothesis that degenerative changes in the SCN are the biological basis of circadian disturbances in people with Alzheimer disease, and that they may be reversed by stimulation of the SCN by light (Liu 2000). There is therefore a need for a systematic review of studies that have examined the efficacy of bright light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition associated with Alzheimer disease. The findings of the review will be useful to clinicians and informal caregivers who care for people with Alzheimer disease and in guiding researchers in their pursuit of knowledge.

OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the systematic review are:

- To assess the relevance and quality of studies that measure the efficacy of light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition associated with Alzheimer disease.
- To determine the efficacy of light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition associated with Alzheimer disease.
- To make recommendations to consumers, practitioners, and researchers regarding the efficacy of light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and cognition associated with Alzheimer disease.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in which light therapy of any intensity or duration is compared with placebo or alternative therapy for the management or prevention of disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and/or cognition associated with Alzheimer disease will be considered for inclusion. Since the intervention consists of bright light, single-blind RCTs will be expected; doubleblind RCTs would be impossible. Other designs such as cohort, case-control, before-and after studies and case series studies may be described but will not be included.

Types of participants

Participants will reside in a long-term care facility or in their own homes and may attend a day care or outpatient setting. Participants will have a diagnosis of mild, moderate or severe Alzheimer disease according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-III-R, DSM-IV) (APA 1995), the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) (McKhann 1984), or the ICD-10 (WHO 1992). Severity of dementia will be assessed by the use of standardized instruments such as the Mini-Mental Status Examination (Folstein 1975).

Types of intervention

The intervention will be bright light (photo) therapy. The bright light may be in the form of indirect (e.g., ceiling mounted) or direct bright light (e.g., light box, light visor, dawn-dusk simulation) and administered at a wide range of intensities, duration, number of treatment sessions, and time of day. The light therapy will be compared with a control treatment (placebo or alternative therapy).

Types of outcome measures

Outcomes that could demonstrate the efficacy of light therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood or cognition as-

sociated with Alzheimer disease will be considered. These measures may be obtained at baseline, during the light therapy, immediately following, and at any interval of time after the treatment. Both dichotomous and continuous data will be used. Outcome measures must assess at least one of the following:

- Changes in the incidence, severity or frequency of sleep-wake disturbances
- Changes in the incidence, severity or frequency of behavioural disturbances (e.g. sundowning, agitation, aggression)
- Changes in mood (e.g. depression)
- Changes in cognition (e.g. memory)
- Changes in rate of institutionalization
- Impact on cost of care

SEARCH STRATEGY FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: search strategy

See: Collaborative Review Group search strategy. The following strategies will be completed to identify relevant studies:

- The Cochrane Dementia and Cognitive Impairment Group (CDCIG) Specialized Register, which includes records from medical databases such as MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, PsycINFO, LILACS, SIGLE and many trials databases will be searched by the Trial Search Coordinator.
- The Librarian reviewer will search Biological Abstracts and the Web of Science.
- The reviewers will check the reference lists of all relevant studies.
- Key researchers and research centres will be contacted for information on unpublished or 'in press' studies.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

1. Searches will be conducted as described above and information about the searches will be documented (e.g., data base searched, controlled vocabulary used, date).

2. Hard copies of the articles will be retrieved.

3. Two reviewers will independently assess relevance of the retrieved articles. The relevance criteria comprise the following questions:

• Does the article describe an evaluation of the efficacy of bright light (photo) therapy in managing disturbances of sleep, behaviour, mood, and/or cognition associated with AD using a randomized controlled design?

- Does the study measure at least one of the following patient/resident outcomes: sleep-wake disturbances, agitated behaviour, aggressive behaviour, sundowning behaviour, mood, cognition, or cost?
- Does the study incorporate measures of the frequency or severity of behaviour, or change in mood, cognition, or cost of care?
- All relevant criteria must be met for the study to be included in the next stage of assessment. Disagreements will be resolved where possible by discussion. A third reviewer will adjudicate persisting differences. Percent agreement beyond chance (kappa) between the reviewers will be calculated.

4. Two reviewers will independently assess the selected studies for methodological quality using criteria adapted from Forbes (1998). The following criteria will be assessed: type of study design and concealment to treatment allocation, level of agreement to participate, attrition rate, potential confounders controlled, blinding for data collection and outcome measures, presence of point estimates, and measures of variability for the outcome measures.

5. Two reviewers will independently extract data from the studies selected for inclusion. Information regarding the publication date, authors, country, study design, characteristics of the study population including ethnicity, setting, credentials of those who provided the treatment, type, duration, intensity, frequency, and time of day of light therapy, control intervention, concurrent interventions, changes in the care environment, and measures of outcomes will be extracted, recorded, and entered into RevMan. 6. The first step in the analyses will be to prepare tabular summaries of the data. As well, a Continuous Data Table (number of participants in each group, means and standard deviations for the outcomes in each group), and a Dichotomous Data Table (number of participants who experienced a change in each comparison group, the total number of participants in each group, and the odds ratio or relative effect), and a table comprising all of the data will be developed. Attempts will be made to collect missing data from the investigators. Each study will be summarized using a measure of effect (e.g., odds ratio, relative risk) and if appropriate the results of a group of studies will be combined and a relative measure (odds ratio, relative effect, weighted mean difference, standardized mean difference) will be reported. Whether the results will be combined depends on the degree of heterogeneity. Statistical heterogeneity will be assessed using the chi-square test for heterogeneity and visual inspection of graphs such as Forest, funnel, and L'Abbe plots. A significance level of less than 0.10 will be interpreted as evidence of heterogeneity. Heterogeneity may be related to differences in the participants (e.g., severity of AD), intervention (e.g., degree of exposure to the light therapy), and methodological quality of the studies. Subgroup analyses will be conducted to explore these differences, if they exist. Both the fixed-effects and random-effects models will be used. However, if the test for heterogeneity is significant and the differences are of practical importance then

more weight will be given to the random-effects model. Lastly, sensitivity analyses will be conducted to determine how sensitive the results of the analyses are to changes in the way they were conducted. For example, analyses will be conducted with and without the weaker studies included.

7. The reviewers will discuss and reach consensus on the interpretation of the results. The consumer editor and other reviewers will review the draft review prior to submitting it to the CDCIG.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of Ms. Edith Sumner, Vice President, Saskatchewan Consumers' Association and member National Health Council, Consumers' Association of Canada as the consumer editor of this review

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

Internal sources of support

• College of Nursing, University of Saskatchewan CANADA

REFERENCES

Additional references

Ancoli-Israel 1994

Ancoli-Israel S, Klauber MR, Gillin, JC, Campbell SS, Hofstetter CR. Sleep in non-institutionalized Alzheimer's disease patients. *Aging (Milano)* 1994;**6**:451-8.

Ancoli-Israel 1997

Ancoli-Israel S, Klauber MR, Williams Jones D, Kripke DF, Martin J, Mason W, Pat-Horenczyk R, Fell R. Variations in circadian rhythms of activity, sleep, and light exposure related to dementia in nursinghome patients. *Sleep* 1997;**20**(1):18-23.

APA 1995

American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th (DSM-IV) Edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 1995.

Bliwise 1993

Bliwise DL. Sleep 1993;16(1):40-81.

Campbell 1998

Campbell SS. In: Lam RW (ed), editor(s). Seasonal Affective Disorder and Beyond: Light Treatment for SAD and Non-SAD Conditions. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, 1998:289-304.

Chesson 1999

Chesson AL, Littner M, Davila D, Anderson WM, Grigg-Damberger M, Hartse K, Johnson S, Wise M. Practice parameters for the use of light therapy in the treatment of sleep disorders. *Sleep* 1999;**22**(5): 641-8.

Colenda 1997

Colenda CC, Cohen W, McCall WV, Rosenquist PB. Phototherapy for patients with Alzheimer disease with disturbed sleep patterns: Results of a community-based pilot study. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders* 1997;**11**:175-8.

CSHAWG 1994

Canadian Study of Health, Aging Working Group. Canadian Study of Health and Aging: Study methods and prevalence of dementia. *Can Med Assoc J* 1994;**159**(6):899-913.

Fast 1999

Fast JE, Forbes D, Keating NC. Contributions and needs of informal elder care providers in Canada: Evidence from Statistics Canada's 1996 General Social Survey on Social Supports. Ottawa: Health Canada, 1999.

Folstein 1975

Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. 'Mini-mental state': a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 1975;**12**:189-198.

Forbes 1998

Forbes 1998 Forbes DA. Strategies for managing the behavioural symptomatology associated with dementia of the Alzheimer type: A systematic overview. *Can J Nurs Res* 1998;**30**(2):67-86.

Gallager-Thompson 92

Gallager-Thompson D, Brooks J, Bliwise D, et al. The relations among caregiver stress, 'sundowning' symptoms and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1992;**40**:807-10.

Gasio In press2002

Gasio PF, Krauchi K, Cajochen C, van Someren E, Amrheim I, Pache M, Savaskan E, Wirz-Justice A. Dawn-dusk simulation light therapy of disturbed circadian rest-activity cycles in demented elderly. *Experimental Gerontology* in press.

Graf 2001

Graf A, Wallner C, Schubert V, Willeit M, Wlk W, Fischer P, Kasper S, Neumeister A. The effects of light therapy on Mini-Mental State Examination scores in demented patients. *Biol Psychiatry* 2001;**50**: 725-727.

Haffmans 2001

Haffmans PMJ, Sival, RC, Lucius SAP, Cats Q, van Gflder L. Bright light therapy and melantonin in motor restless behaviour in dementia: A placebo-controlled study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2001;**16**:106-110.

Harper 1999

Harper DG, Rheaume Y, Manning BC, Volicer L. In: Volicer L, Bloom-Charette L, (eds), editor(s). *Enhancing the Quality of Life in Advanced Dementia*. Philadelphia, PA: Brunner, 1999:187-205.

Harper 2001

Harper DG, Stopa EG, McKee AC, Satlin A, Harlan PC, Goldstein R, Volicer L. Differential circadian rhythm disturbances in men with Alzheimer Disease and Frontotemporal Degeneration. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2001;**58**:353-360.

Ito 2001

Ito T, Yamadera H, Ito R, Suzuki H, Asayama K, Endo S. Effects of vitamin B12 on bright light on cognition and sleep-wake rhythm in Alzheimer-type dementia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2001;**55**:281-2.

Johnson 2002

Johnson F, Stevens T. Pharmacological interventions for sleep disorder in people with dementia. In: *The Cochrane Library, CDRom*, 2, 2002.Oxford: Update Software.

Liu 2000

Liu RY, Zhou JN, Hoogendijk WJG, van Heerikhuize J, Kamphorst W, Unmehopa UA, Hofman MA, Swaab DF. Decreased vasopressin gene expression in the biological clock of Alzheimer disease patients with and without depression. *J Neuropathology Experimental Neurol* 2000;**59**(4):314-22.

Lovell 1995

Lovell BB, Ancoli-Israel S, Gevirtz R. Effect of bright light treatment on agitated behavior in institutionalized elderly subjects. *Psychiatry Res* 1995;**57**:7-12.

Lucassen 1995

Lucassen PJ, Hofman MA, Swaab DF. Increased light intensity prevents the age-related loss of vasopressin-expressing neurons in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Brain Res* 1995;**693**:261-66.

Lyketsos 1999

Lyketsos CG, Veiel LL, Baker A, Steele C. A randomized, controlled trial of bright light therapy for agitated behaviors in dementia patients residing in long-term care. *Int J Geriat Psychiatry* 1999;**14**:520-525.

McGaffigan 1997

McGaffigan S, Bliwise DL. The treatment of sundowning. A selective review of pharmacological and non-pharmacological studies. *Drugs Aging* 1997;**10**(1):10-17.

McKhann 1984

McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM. Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services task force on Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 1984;**34**:939-944.

Mishima 1994

Mishima K, Okawa M, Hishikawa Y, Hozumi S, Hori H, Takahashi K. Morning bright light therapy for sleep and behavior disorders in elderly patients with dementia. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1994; **89**:1-7.

Mishima 1998

Mishima K, Hishikawa Y, Okawa M. Randomized, dim light controlled, crossover test of morning bright light therapy for rest-activity rhythm disorders in patients with vascular dementia and dementia of Alzheimer's type. *Chronobiol Int* 1998;**15**(6):647-654.

Mishima 1999

Mishima K, Tozawa T, Satoh K, Matsumoto Y, Hishikawa Y, Okawa M. Metatonin secretion rhythm disorders in patients with senile dementia of Alzheimer's type with disturbed sleep-waking. *Biol Psychiatry* 1999;**45**:417-21.

Moe 1995

Moe KE, Vitiello MV, Larsen LH, Prinz PN. Sleep/wake patterns in Alzheimer's disease: Relationship with cognition and function. *J Sleep Res* 1995;4:15-20.

Pollak 1991

Pollak CP, Perlick D. Sleep problems and institutionalization of the elderly. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol* 1991;4:204-10.

Prinz 1982

Prinz PN, Peskind ER, Vitaliano PP, Raskind MA, Eisdorfer C, Zemcuznikov N, Gerber CJ. Changes in the sleep and waking EEGs of nondemented and demented elderly subjects. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1982; **30**:86-93.

Satlin 1991

Satlin A, Teicher MH, Lieberman HR, Baldessarini RJ, Volicer L, Rheaume, Y. Circadian locomotor activity rhythms in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1991;**5**:115-26.

Satlin 1992

Satlin A, Volicer L, Ross V, Herz L, Campbell S. Bright light treatment of behavioral and sleep disturbances in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry* 1992;**149**:1028-32.

Swaab 1985

Swaab DF, Fliers E, Partiman TS. The suprachiasmatic nucleus of the human brain in relation to sex, age, and senile dementia. *Brain Res* 1985;**342**:37-44.

Thorpe 2000

Thorpe L, Middleton J, Russell G, Stewart N. Bright light therapy for demented nursing home patients with behavioral disturbance. *Am J Alzheimer's Disease* 2000;**15**(1):18-26.

Touitou 1982

Touitou Y, Sulon, J, Bogdan A, Touitou C, Reinberg A, Beck H, Sodoyez J, Demey-Ponsart E, Van Cauwenberge H. Adrenal circadian system in young and elderly human subjects: A comparative study. *J Endocrinology* 1982;**93**:201-10.

van Someren 1993

van Someren EJW, Mirmiran M, Swaab DF. Non-pharmacological treatment of sleep and wake disturbances in aging and Alzheimer's disease: Chronobiological perspectives. *Behav Brain Res* 1993;**57**:235-253.

van Someren 1996

Van Someren EJW, Hagebeuk, EEO, Lijzenga C, Scheltens P, de Rooij SEJA, Jonker C, Pot AM, Mirmiran M, Swaab DF. Circadian rest-activity rhythm disturbances in Alzheimer's Disease. *Biological Psychiatry* 1996;40:259-70.

van Someren 1997

van Someren EJW, Kessler A, Mirmiran M, Swaab DF. Indirect bright light improves circadian rest-activity rhythm disturbances in demented patients. *Biological Psychiatry* 1997;**41**:955-63.

van Someren 1999

van Someren EJW, Swaab DF, Colenda CC, Cohen W, McCall WV, Rosenquist PB. Bright light therapy: Improved sensitivity to its effects on rest-activity rhythms in Alzheimer patients by application of nonparametric methods. *Chronobiol Int* 1999;**16**(4):505-18.

Vink 2002

Vink AC, Bruinsma MS, Scholten R. Music therapy in the care of people with dementia. In: *The Cochrane Library CDRom*, 2, 2002.Oxford: Update Software.10.1002/14651858.CD003477

WHO 1992

World Health Organisation. *The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural disorders: Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines*. Geneva: World Health Organisation, Division of Mental Health, 1992.

Witting 1993

Witting W, Mirmiran M, Bos NP Swaab DF. Effect of light intensity on diurnal sleep-wake distribution in young and old rats. *Brain Res Bull* 1993;**30**:157-62.

COVER SHEET

Title	Light Therapy for Managing Sleep, Behaviour, and Mood Disturbances Associated with Alzheimer Disease	
Authors	Forbes D, Morgan D, Bangma J, Peacock S, Campbell TD, Adamson J	
Contribution of author(s)	 -DF: All correspondence; drafting review versions; obtaining copies of reports; selection of trials; extraction of data; entry of data; interpretation of data analysis -DMO:drafting review versions; selection of trials; extraction of data; interpretation of data analysis -JBA: drafting review versions; interpretation of data analysis -SP: drafting review versions; selection of trials; extraction of data; entry of data; interpretation of data analysis -TDC: drafting review versions; selection of trials; extraction of data; entry of data; interpretation of data analysis -TDC: drafting review versions; selection of trials; extraction of data; entry of data; interpretation of data analysis JA: drafting review versions; obtaining copies of reports; selection of trials; entry of data -CDCIG Contact Editor: Linda Clare -Consumer Editor: Edith Sumner 	
Issue protocol first published	2002/4	
Date of most recent amendment	most recent amendment 26 November 2003	
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	28 August 2002	
What's New	Information not supplied by author	
DOI 10.1002/14651858.CD003946		

Cochrane Library number	CD003946
Editorial group	Cochrane Dementia and Cognitive Improvement Group
Editorial group code	HM-DEMENTIA